

For the Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Development

Dr. Susan McIntyre



Table of Contents

Executive Summary	3
Background	5
The Youngest Profession Oldest Oppression (1994) and Strolling Away (2004)	5
Under the Radar: The Sexual Exploitation of Young Men studies	6
Research Findings	6
Cultural Background	7
Sexual Abuse Prior to the Street	7
Physical Abuse Prior to the Street	8
Self Harm Prior to the Street	9
Child Welfare	9
Running Away Prior to the Street	10
Thrown Out Prior to the Street	
Age They Began Working	11
Cultural Connection	11
Police	13
Family Violence	13
Years Working	14
Introduction to Exploitation	14
Family History	16
Pregnant	16
Education	17
Violence While Working	18
Family Relationship	19
Addiction to Drugs	
Sexual Orientation While Working	
Sexual Orientation in Private Life	22
Regulars and Sugar Daddies	23
Work Movement	
Concluding Discussion and Recommendations	24
Bibliography	26

Disclaimer: Content of the report does not necessarily represent the views of the Government of Canada. The contents of this paper are the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the position of the Government of Canada or the Office of the Federal Interlocutor for Métis and Non-Status Indians.



Executive Summary

The data for this report was summarized from the following studies completed by Dr. Susan McIntyre:

- The Youngest Profession Oldest Oppression (1994)
- Strolling Away (2004)
- Under the Radar the Sexual Exploitation of Young Men in Alberta (2005)
- Under the Radar the Sexual Exploitation of Young Men in British Columbia (2006)
- Under the Radar the Sexual Exploitation of Young Men in Saskatchewan (2008)
- Under the Radar the Sexual Exploitation of Young Men in Manitoba (2008)
- Under the Radar the Sexual Exploitation of Young Men in Western Canada (2010)

The key findings in each subsection were derived from *Under the Radar the Sexual Exploitation of Young Men in Western Canada* (2010):

- A total of 157 young men were interviewed and 96 of them were Aboriginal. The highest Aboriginal representation was from Saskatchewan where 85% were Aboriginal.
- A background of sexual abuse prior to the street for this population was 70%. A background of physical abuse was reported in 82% of this Aboriginal population.
- A total of 54% of these Aboriginal young men reported self harming actions prior to the street.
- Sixty-one percent of this population entered into the Child Welfare system
- Running away was reported in 81% of young Aboriginal men
- Fifty percent reported being thrown out of their home
- The youngest person began work at age 8 and the oldest at 30 with an average age of entering into street sexual exploitation being 15 years of age.
- Just over half this population reported a connection to their Aboriginal culture
- Eighty-three of the 96 Aboriginal young men (86%) had a history with the police
- Seventy percent of this population were victims of violence within the home while 90% had witnessed family violence
- Nine years was the average time Aboriginal youth reported working
- Self introduction or introduction by a friend was the most common route into sexual exploitation
- A family history of sexual exploitation was reported in over 60% of those interviewed
- Thirty percent of this population reported being a biological parent

HindSight GROUP

Aboriginal Domestic Trafficking in Persons

- Over 60% of this population had not completed high school
- Risk of gay bashing violence for this population is always a risk though only close to half had the experience
- Family strain and disconnection was prevalent in 58% of these young men
- Eighty-two percent of this population reported addiction as an issue
- A person has a sexual orientation in their work life and in their private life
- Having regular customers and/or sugar daddies was reported in 86% of those interviewed for the study
- Sixty-six percent of this population had moved and worked in sexual exploitation
- Over half of this population had worked in more than one province

A review of the overall findings was complete, and the Aboriginal data was then separated out and analyzed for the *Aboriginal Domestic Trafficking in Persons* report.

The remainder of this report is a discussion and series of seven recommendations which are as follows:

- 1. That an environmental scan be undertaken and completed at a national level looking at the services and supports available to sexually exploited young men. It should examine the extent of services available to Aboriginal sexually exploited young men given their overrepresentation in Western Canada. It will also be important that this document be province and city specific.
- **2.** That studies such as *Under the Radar* be completed in other parts of Canada (e.g. Central and Eastern Canada) looking at the sexual exploitation of young men. National studies have been completed on females in sexual exploitation but not on males. This would provide an opportunity to have a complete picture of sexually exploited young men in Canada and the level of Aboriginal representation.
- **3.** That specific research is undertaken that focuses on the issue of transgendered and/or Two-Spirited persons. That education and training be developed for educators, social service providers, health care workers, police, family and the general public in reference to transgendered and Two-Spirited persons.
- **4.** That programs and services be designed, implemented and evaluated that are specifically focused on young sexually exploited young men; and that sexually exploited young men be the primary focus in this process. Specific attention should be directed toward the risk factors facing Aboriginal persons.
- 5. That a Federal Territorial Provincial Working Group be set up to look at sexually exploited young men. Establishing a gender-specific committee will ensure their needs is being considered from a program, policy and legal prospective.
- **6.** That specific prevention and training programs be developed in looking at sexually exploited Aboriginal persons. Prevention programs and training materials should be designed, developed and delivered examining the role residential schools have played in impacting parents and their communities. These programs could be delivered to families, parents and the community both urban, rural and on reserve.



7. That training and education be designed and delivered to government, correctional and social service practitioners and students on the issue of sexual exploitation of young men including Transgendered and Two-Spirited individuals. Focus should be directed to the overrepresentation of Aboriginal persons and the relationship this has to residential school history.

Background

Dr. Susan McIntyre has become known for her compelling research into various issues surrounding sexual exploitation. Her research has helped change the way many practitioners and policy makers view the profession; has led to changes in service programs and delivery; and it has given a voice to those who have been struggling to exit the profession successfully and move on with their lives.

While her research included participants of Aboriginal descent, it did not specifically explore address whether their issues and experiences were different in some way from others.

A few months ago, Dr. McIntyre was commissioned by Cheryl Matthew, Senior Policy Analyst with the Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Development to identify and profile Aboriginal findings from the following reports:

- The Youngest Profession Oldest Oppression (1994)
- Strolling Away (2004)
- *Under the Radar: The Sexual Exploitation of Young Men in Alberta* (2005)
- Under the Radar: The Sexual Exploitation of Young Men in British Columbia (2006)
- Under the Radar: The Sexual Exploitation of Young Men in Saskatchewan (2008)
- *Under the Radar: The Sexual Exploitation of Young Men in Manitoba* (2008)
- Under the Radar: The Sexual Exploitation of Young Men in Western Canada (2010)

The Youngest Profession Oldest Oppression (1994) and Strolling Away (2004)

In 1994, Dr. McIntyre interviewed 41 young women and 9 young men. The study was titled the *The Youngest Profession Oldest Oppression*. In that study, a total of 12 individuals identified themselves as Aboriginal. Nine were women and three were men.

Ten years later, as part of the *Strolling Away* study, Dr. McIntyre successfully reinterviewed nine young women and two young men that had originally identified as Aboriginal. Out of these, one young man and one young woman from the 1994 study did not identify as Aboriginal.



However, when re-interviewed in 2004 they had discovered their Aboriginal heritage. Three of the original 12 were not discovered or available for interviews for the follow up study in 2004. One had committed suicide and the other was missing.

Of the 11 Aboriginal men and women that were re-interviewed for *Strolling Away*, 100% had a background of sexual and physical abuse prior to their involvement in sexual exploitation, and all had experienced violence while involved on the street. In addition, 81% had a background of involvement with child welfare. On average, this group had a higher percentage of history with sexual abuse, physical abuse, street harm and child welfare involvement than the other 27 non-Aboriginal persons that were interviewed.

Overall, Aboriginal youth entered at the age of 14 which is comparable to non-Aboriginal persons interviewed. Other comparable issues included: running away (81%); police involvement (91%); family violence (73%); being thrown out of the house (55%); and addiction issues (91%).

Furthermore, this Aboriginal group of 11 had comparable percentages with the other 27 non-Aboriginal populations in the areas of: education, pregnancy, siblings in sexual exploitation, and introduction into sexual exploitation with the most common route of entry being through a friend.

In 2004, none of the 11 Aboriginal persons were still working in the sexual exploitation trade.

Originally only 64% felt a connection to their Aboriginal heritage with only 36% having spent time on a reserve.

Under the Radar: The Sexual Exploitation of Young Men studies

After the release of *Strolling Away* in 2004, it became clear we knew virtually nothing about young men involved in sexual exploitation because we had been viewing this issue through a female lens. It was for this reason that *Under the Radar: The Sexual Exploitation of Young Men* research began in Alberta in 2005. It was later expanded to British Columbia in 2006, followed by Saskatchewan and Manitoba in 2008. In 2010, a consolidated report titled *Under the Radar: The Sexual Exploitation of Young Men in Western Canada* was released. This report represented interviews with 157 young men involved in the sexual exploitation trade in the provinces of British Columbia (40 interviews), Alberta (37 interviews), Saskatchewan (40 interviews) and Manitoba (40 interviews).

Research Findings

The following information, specific to Aboriginals was gleaned from a combination of those Under the Radar reports.



Cultural Background

In this research, out of 157 interviewed, there were a total of 96 sexually exploited Aboriginal men. This meant 61% of the total population interviewed in Western provinces was Aboriginal.

By province, the breakdown was as follows:

- In Alberta, 20 of the 37 sexually exploited young men interviewed, over half (54%) were Aboriginal.
- In British Columbia, 16 of the 40 young men interviewed, 40% were Aboriginal.
- In Saskatchewan, 34 of the 40 young men interviewed (85%) were Aboriginal.
- In Manitoba, 26 of the 40 young men interviewed (65%) were Aboriginal.

Given the fact that 61% of the total population interviewed in Western Canada was Aboriginal, it is fair to say young Aboriginal men are significantly overrepresented in the male sexual exploitation arena in Western Canada, and unfortunately they are also largely ignored by service providers.

	BC	AB	SK	MN	TOTAL
Aboriginal	16/40	20/37	34/40	26/40	96/157
	40%	54%	85%	65%	61%

J. Spencer is an Aboriginal man involved in psychotherapy and consulting. He provided the following explanation in reference to the silence of young Aboriginal men being sexual exploited:

"While the greatest majority of female sex workers engage in heterosexual work for males regardless of their orientation or self-identification, the sex work is usually of a homosexual nature. I suspect this more than anything prevents any real work and may explain the further marginalization of male sex workers in regards to services and awareness. I think there is also an subconscious element of awareness that most sex workers are Aboriginal, again furthering the stigmatization and marginalization." Source: J. Spencer Row and Associates Making A Ripple

Sexual Abuse Prior to the Street

Inquiring into a background of sexual abuse prior to involvement in sexual exploitation consumerism was important. Sixty-seven of the 96 young Aboriginal men (70%) reported sexual abuse in their early years. This finding was consistent with the report *Scared Lives* (Kingsley and Marks 2000) and *It's Not What You Think* (Saewyc, MacKay, Anderson & Drozda 2008).



	BC	AB	SK	MN	TOTAL
Sexual Abuse	9/16	13/20	25/34	20/26	67/96
	56%	65%	74%	77%	70%

The following quotes speak clearly too sexual abuse this population had suffered in their younger years:

"I would say the first incident happened when I was probably 10, then again at 12, 13, and 14. After that people started to pay which made it a little easier." (Jade)

"I became an adult when I was three years old. It was a female babysitter. She was babysitting another kid. I was three and she was two. The babysitters made us do sex acts together. People ask me when I lost my virginity and I say when I was three. It also happened with my mom's younger brother." (Forrest)

"Yes, it the next door neighbor when I was a kid. He was an old man. It happened in the alley one time." (Matthew)

"Yes, my mom's boyfriend and an old guy I was drinking with." (Darren)

In total, 70% of these Aboriginal young men had been sexually victimized as young children. The highest was found in Saskatchewan (77%) and the lowest in British Columbia (56%).

Physical Abuse Prior to the Street

A total of 79% of the 96 Aboriginal young men reported a background of physical abuse prior to their involvement in sexual exploitation. Saskatchewan had the lowest number of young Aboriginal men reporting physical abuse at 74% while Manitoba had the highest rate being reported at 96%.

"My biological dad would beat the shit out of me. My dad shot a gun through the house and almost killed my sister." (Sal)

"When my father was drunk they screamed and we got spanked." (Jamie)

"My dad was pretty drunk. I saw my dad holding a shotgun. My mom walked in and said 'what the hell are you doing' and took the bullets away." (John)

In total, 82% of young men had experienced physical abuse in their homes prior to their involvement in sexual exploitation.



	BC	AB	SK	MN	TOTAL
Physical Abuse	12/16	17/20	25/34	25/26	79/96
	75%	85%	74%	96%	82%

Self Harm Prior to the Street

Over half of the Aboriginal young men interviewed (54%) of this population were involved in self harming behavior ranging from cutting, overdosing and attempting suicide prior to the street. This self harming speaks to the trauma they had experienced earlier on.

"Yes, I tried to commit suicide." (Brett)

"Yes, I slashed, overdosed, ran in front of cars on purpose, tried to hang myself, jumped from the 3rd story." (Darren)

Self harming behavior was a common reaction to circumstances with this young Aboriginal population.

	BC	AB	SK	MN	TOTAL
Self Harm Prior	13/16	10/20	15/34	14/26	52/96
Street	81%	50%	44%	54%	54%

Child Welfare

Sixty one percent of the 96 Aboriginal young men had family involvement with Child Welfare. In other words, 54 of the 96 of Aboriginal young men had a family history of Child Welfare involvement in their background.

	BC	AB	SK	MN	TOTAL
Child Welfare	12/16	11/20	21/34	15/26	55/96
	75%	55%	62%	58%	61%

A large proportion of this Aboriginal population had Child Welfare intervening in their family upbringing. Some identified Child Welfare involvement corresponding with their family experience resulting from a residential school experience. This population experienced disconnection from family, culture, heritage and community earlier in their lives. This disconnect often resulted in isolation, gaps and losses resulting in personal difficulties and challenges.

"To some degree our whole life has had some kind of involvement with Child Welfare." (Baylee)

"My brother, both my sisters, my whole family." (Ross)



Running Away Prior to the Street

Eighty one percent of the Aboriginal young men interviewed had run away prior to their involvement in sexual exploitation. Backgrounds of abusive surroundings certainly contributed to running away. Some ran as they felt different, and their sexual orientation fueled their need to find alternative settings where they felt a greater degree of understanding and acceptance.

	BC	AB	SK	MN	TOTAL
Running	15/16	16/20	26/34	21/26	78/96
	94%	80%	76%	81%	81%

This population was running both to and from situations. The lack of income and housing often identified this population for being at risk of an entrance into survival sexual exploitation. They were vulnerable and easily identified when they were on the run.

"After my mom remarried I used to run away a lot to get away from my dad. I got the punching, the slapping; he'd always call me a bastard and shit like that." (Forrest)

"Fifty plus, my mom was always trying to OD." (Darren)

"I was thirteen and it was because of my sexuality." (Brett)

"I was angry. I knew there were other gay people out there so I went to the city, I felt that's where I belonged I was finally part of something for once in my life."
(Billy)

Thrown Out Prior to the Street

Running away was not the only method that identified this population for risk of sexual exploitation. Half this population had been thrown out of their home and some said this had occurred because of their sexual orientation.

Again the risk factor of no income or housing increased the probability of this population entering into survival sex. Sexual exploitation work resulted in a quick immediate source of income.

	BC	AB	SK	MN	TOTAL
Thrown Out	6/16	11/16	16/34	21/26	48/96
	37%	69%	47%	81%	50%



"Because I wanted to dress like a girl." (Cagney)

"I was on the phone long distance with my friend and my mom was yelling at me to get off and do the dishes. I was like, just wait you know; my friend is paying for the call. My mom was going to slap me and I got tired of it and I grabbed her hand and said don't. My dad ripped the phone out of the wall and we started fighting, like really fighting. He wrapped me up in a blanket and I had my boxers on. He told me to never come back." (Forrest)

"Because of my sexuality." (Jasper)

Age They Began Working

Over 62% of this population had an average age of 15 when entering the sexual exploitation. Seventeen percent entered into sexual exploitation at 13 years of age. An additional 21% entered at 14 years of age. The youngest Aboriginal person interviewed entered when he was 8 and the oldest was 30. Overall, what is important is that 82% of this population began work when they were under the age of 18; they were youth being sexually exploited. These youth were attempting to survive in the world of sexual exploitation. The 18% over the age of 18 that entered this life were seeking a form of continued existence also but had resorted to what would be legally termed prostitution. This older population had many of the significant risk factors discussed throughout this paper.

	BC	AB	SK	MN	TOTAL
Average Age	13 yrs	14 yrs	15 yr	15 yrs	15 yrs
Began					
Began Work	13/16	16/20	29/34	21/26	79/96
Under 18 yrs					
	81%	80%	85%	81%	82%
Began work	3/16	4/20	5/34	5/26	17/96
over 18 yrs					
	19%	20%	15%	19%	18%

Cultural Connection

A total of 54 of the 96 felt connected to their Aboriginal heritage. The additional 42 young men felt no connection whatsoever to their Aboriginal culture.

	BC	AB	SK	MN	TOTAL
Cultural	8/16	12/20	21/34	13/26	54/96
Connection					
	50%	60%	62%	50%	54%



At some point 65% of these sexually exploited Aboriginal men had spent time on reserve; however, this did not necessarily translate to a connection to their culture.

"I am aware of the residential school issue and how it has impacted my parents and their parents. I attribute a lot of my own dysfunctional behavior to their inability to be whole people themselves." (Sam)

"I'm Métis. I think that's Aboriginal." (Jake)

"A lot of my family grew up on reserve. Mostly my mom's side of the family. Most of my dad's family left the reserve and worked. My sister turned to street life and gave up her child to child welfare." (Baylee)

"No I don't know too much about my native heritage." (Paul)

"Somewhat. I got into the Indian dancing and old native stories, and pot latches." (Forrest)

"In a way, no not really, sometimes." (Liam)

"It got me out of what I was doing; the whole spirituality gave me self esteem, kept me from relapsing." (Matthew)

"Not sure, the Aboriginal women that raised me were ashamed of being Aboriginal. We went to a big church with no Aboriginal people." (Lawrence)

"I was raised in a Christian home. I spent most of my life in that mentality but I knew I was Aboriginal and did look for my traditional roots, I never got in touch with them until I was incarcerated." (Lane)

"My Aboriginal beliefs are what actually opened me up to being Julie. Um, the Aboriginal honor the Two-Spirited people with great respect. Being Aboriginal helped me accept myself for who I was. Both man and woman. It's given me my strength and the capability to find happiness within myself to a point of full acceptance and I thank the great Spirit for that. Something I try and teach a lot for Aboriginal people is that Two-Spirited is being accepted by all Aboriginal people more of society than just being gay." (Jamie)

"It affected my life pretty much. When I was a kid I was ashamed to be native, the poverty and everything. I moved out here and found out that being native wasn't something I had to be really embarrassed about. It was probably because I was in a different province. Natives are treated a lot different in BC than they are in Saskatchewan. It's sad to say but true." (Matt)



Police

This population was very familiar with police in all four provinces. Some spoke about how police protected and assisted them while they were involved in sexual exploitation, while others had a long history of enforcement as youth and adults.

Overall 86% of young Aboriginal men had involvement with police, the highest being the province of Alberta at 95%.

	BC	AB	SK	MN	TOTAL
Police	13/16	19/20	30/34	21/26	83/96
	81%	95%	88%	81%	86%

[&]quot;I've never had a problem with the police. They've never harassed me. They actually came and checked on me, went out of their way." (Jace)

Family Violence

Sixty seven of the 96 young men (70%) experienced family violence in their home growing up. This violence ranged from sexual assault and/or physical assault, to threats with weapons.

	BC	AB	SK	MN	TOTAL
Family Violence	11/16	18/20	26/34	12/26	67/96
	69%	90%	76%	46%	70%

According to the Alberta Council of Women Shelters (ACWS), Alberta has one of the highest provincial levels of domestic violence. This was confirmed in the research, as 90% percent of sexually exploited young men from Alberta reported witnessing family violence. In other words, 18 of the 20 Alberta Aboriginal participants had been in and around domestic violence in their family of origin.

"Dad was drinking, abusive verbally and physically to my mom." (Tory)

"I watched my mom get beat up lots." (Jaden)

"My dad beat up his girlfriend and me." (Rob).

"My biological dad would beat the shit out of me. My dad shot a shotgun through the house and almost killed my sister." (Rafi)

[&]quot;Significant portion. All of my youth and most of my adult life. I have had interaction with the police in one form or another." (Dylan)



"When my mother was raped. I didn't see it, I heard it." (Sydney)

"Um, still talk to my mom and dad every week. My brothers and sisters cover the bases. I let them know I'm still alive and doing okay." (Tim)

Years Working

In summary, the 96 men in this study had worked a total of 862 years. That means that on average, a person stayed in sexual exploitation for 9 years. Some of those interviewed had been working for over twenty years while others had been working for less than one year.

	BC	AB	SK	MN	TOTAL
Years Working	8.8 yrs	8.6 yrs	9.5 yrs	8.7 yrs	9 yrs
Total	141 yrs	172 yrs	323 yrs	226 yrs	862 yrs

[&]quot;I started off by 15, 16. Ya 16, cause I was on my own." (Jack)

Introduction to Exploitation

It is important to gain a clear understanding of how Aboriginal young men are introduced into sexual exploitation. The following table spells this out by province and the source of the introduction which was predominantly by oneself or through a friend.

	BC	AB	SK	MN	TOTAL
Introduced self	7/16	8/20	12/34	4/26	31/96
to work by					
observing	44%	40%	35%	15%	32%
Introduced by	0/16	1/20	3/34	3/26	7/96
family to work					
	0%	5%	9%	12%	7%
Introduced by	6/16	8/20	14/34	15/26	43/96
friend to work					
	38%	40%	41%	58%	45%
Introduced to	3/16	3/20	5/34	4/26	15/96
by offer					
consumer	19%	11%	15%	15%	16%

[&]quot;Eight years old. It wasn't really a hustle, it was a rape and money and I left out of guilt." (Elton)

[&]quot;Well the first time it was not my child. I thought it was. I tried to be there for the kid then I found out it was not mine. It was not a very pleasant experience. We were trying to change our lives and not sure how to do this." (Baylee)



The following quotes speak clearly too how a young male Aboriginal person is inducted into the sexual exploitation lifestyle. Friends, family, personal observation and consumer offers are the methods of entrance identified and spoken about in these quotes. Personal observation and friends is the most common route in.

"At first my girlfriend introduced me to meet people over the phone. Then I went down to the bar to meet people." (Lane)

"Myself and a friend, I just heard about it and said what the hell, a friend helped." (John)

"A guy approached me in the park. I was at the fruit loop." (Darren)

"Stumbled upon a man that would provide as long as I gave him what he wanted and I went along with it." (Billy)

"My gay cousin." (Greg)

"My mom, dad, brother and sister." (Darren)

"My one sister and one brother." (Wil)

"My mother used to hook and my sisters worked for an escort agency." (Adam)

"Yes, my dad was my mom's pimp and my grandma was a madam." (Darren)

"Everything that was going on in my family, Alcohol, residential school, just her history of being Aboriginal." (Ross)

As can be seen from the quotes above, young men do not use the same methodology as young women when entering into sexual exploitation. Young men do not usually have a pimp pressuring them into sexual exploitation and garnishing their earnings. Young men often have friends or family they know or meet who introduce them into this survival lifestyle. Other entrance paths are achieved through observation which leads to venturing out on their own accord. An additional orientation occurs through the offer of consumers who will make such propositions to vulnerable young men they see seeking food, shelter and income.



Family History

	BC	AB	SK	MN	TOTAL
Family History	5/16	8/20	17/34	15/26	45/96
Street					
	31%	40%	50%	58%	47%
Family History	4/5	5/8	13/17	7/15	29/45
Sex					
Exploitation	80%	63%	76%	47%	64%

Another significant finding is that 47% of Aboriginal sexually exploited young men had a family history on the street. This was either in the trade or through involvement in drugs and/or gangs.

Of the 45 participants with a background of street life, 29 (64%) had a history of a family member in sexual exploitation.

Background awareness of survival sex existed with many. The concept of sex exploitation survival was not a foreign concept in their family heritage. Survival sex for income was something that was known to this population. Young men receive the cash immediately for their survival and they do not have to provide their earnings to a pimp. Young men are more collegial and sharing with their peers.

Pregnant

It was found in *Strolling Away* that the reality or intention to bring a child into the world to fulfill the role as a parent motivated a person's desire to distance themselves and detach from sexual exploitation.

For mothers, a child brings about state and family support to those in the exiting process from sexual exploitation. This same excitement and support is not provided to sexually exploited men if they were to become a parent.

Firstly, they are not physiologically positioned to carry and birth a child as women are. Secondly, they are distanced, ignored, shamed and ridiculed for being involved in sexual exploitation with male consumers.

There is a tendency to forgive, assist and provide compassion to young women entrenched in sexual exploitation. This concern is not afforded to young men.

Young men survival sex is with male customers and this tends to be uncomfortable and raises homophobic fears regardless of the sexual orientation of young sexually exploited men. Sympathy and support is not something that is forthcoming if a young man was to become a parent.



Distance and separation are a standard response to these young men if they were to become a parent. Parents and other family members do not want or encourage these young men to play an active or recognized parental role.

	BC	AB	SK	MN	TOTAL
Pregnant	8/16	7/20	8/34	6/26	29/96
	50%	35%	24%	23%	30%

"Well the first time it was not my child. I thought it was. I tried to be there for the kid, then I found out it was not mine. It was not a very pleasant experience. We were trying to change our lives and not sure how to do this. We were trying to change things but did not know how." (Baylee)

Education

Sixty three percent of Aboriginal young men in sexual exploitation had not completed high school. Once a person enters into sexual exploitation, school is not a priority or a reality in a lifestyle of survival. This lack of educational completion raises new challenges around education to work life transition.

To their credit, a total of 37% had completed high school and some entered into college and university. Sadly, this educational achievement did not protect them from sexual exploitation. Backgrounds of abuse, running away, living and family circumstances placed this population at a greater risk of entrance into sexual exploitation regardless of education. A level of discomfort and trauma often precluded this population from educational success and completion.

	BC	AB	SK	MN	TOTAL
Educational	0/16	3/20	2/34	2/26	7/96
Level					
	0%	15%	6%	8%	7%
Post Secondary					
Educational	6/16	5/20	9/34	9/26	29/96
Level					
	38%	25%	26%	35%	30%
GED					
Educational	10/16	12/20	23/34	15/26	60/96
Level					
	62%	60%	68%	58%	63%
No GED					

Young Aboriginal men spoke of how they found educational programs different and uncomfortable for them. They felt they did not fit in given their Aboriginal heritage.

HindSight GROUP

Aboriginal Domestic Trafficking in Persons

"My parents thought they should put me in Aboriginal school but they never knew where there was one. My dad wanted me to have a better chance. We could not compare ourselves with what we actually had because of skin color and we were the only ones with different skin color." (Baylee)

"I didn't do well because I wasn't in a comfortable place." (Haley)

"I think I wasn't treated differently but I never felt I fit in." (Scout)

"Yes, Catholic schools. I was the only native boy in the school." (Darren)

Violence While Working

The issue of violence faces all involved in sexual exploitation regardless of gender, sexual orientation, culture, age or location.

For young women, their violence factor originates with customers.

For young men, there can be some violence from customers, yet the biggest risk is gay bashing. Gay bashing occurs where heterosexual men often in a group or individually will go to a street location and publicly ridicule those involved in sexual exploitation by name calling, throwing objects, direct physical encounters and assaults.

Forty-three percent had been gay bashed during their time in sexual exploitation. All 96 feared on a daily basis while working in sexual exploitation that they would be battered that evening.

This population works in areas that are dark, secluded and isolated so protection is not readily available. Many tend to work with other like persons and carry a weapon for protection while walking in the sexual exploitation area, believing they are less visible as movement provides them some protection. Regardless, the fear of potential violence is an ever present reality while working. In addition, the fear from customers and those that gay bash is always present.

"No I carry a switch blade with me just in case." (Raven)

"A guy came by and he was threatening to kill us. Found out later he was a closet gay." (Brett)

"Yes, I have been beaten up. It's more about being gay or Two-Spirited. You're both Aboriginal and Two-Spirited. There is a lot of abuse. It is not as acceptable for gay men as it is for women." (Ross)

"Because you never know who the next person is and you will never know them. You are there for the money and they are there for the sex." (Darren)



"It was three in the morning and my friend just took off. I was going to catch up to him and then the gay bashers struck me from behind. I tried to defend myself but there were three of them and they were all intoxicated. But I still couldn't defend myself because there was two on one side of me and the other was like digging through my pockets." (Fred)

	BC	AB	SK	MN	TOTAL
Violence while	8/16	9/20	14/34	12/26	43/96
working					
	50%	45%	41%	46%	45%

Family Relationship

Forty two percent still remained connected and felt support from their family even while they were in this difficult lifestyle. Fifty six of the 96 sexually exploited Aboriginal young men identified that their relationship with their family was strained or did not exist at the time. In other words 58% of sexually exploited Aboriginal young men had no consistent, supportive relationship with their family.

	BC	AB	SK	MN	TOTAL
Relationship	6/16	9/20	16/34	9/26	40/96
Family					
	38%	45%	47%	35%	42%
Good					
Relationship	10/16	11/20	18/34	17/26	56/96
Family					
	62%	55%	53%	65%	58%
Strained					

[&]quot;Very open and honest about my boundaries. They respect that. It is more comfortable than it has ever been." (Billy)

[&]quot;I am the only sober one. I have no clue who they are." (Ross)

[&]quot;Disconnected because they moved away. We need the distance." (Alan)

[&]quot;Not very close. Just starting to reconnect." (Stu)

[&]quot;Don't have one." (Sam)

[&]quot;That my family will find out and I will be shamed out of my family." (Adam)



Addiction to Drugs

There exists a strong relationship between sexual exploitation and drug use. Often the use of drugs eases the activity of exploitation. In total, 82% identified drug use as being part of their life in sexual exploitation.

	BC	AB	SK	MN	TOTAL
Addiction Drugs	14/16	14/20	29/34	22/26	79/96
Work					
	87%	70%	82%	85%	82%

[&]quot;Yes, I realized at 19 I had not had sex with a man sober." (Ross)

Sexual Orientation While Working

Calgary Sexual Health Centre defines sexual identities in the following ways:

Gay: Men who are emotionally, physically, and sexually attracted to men.

Bisexual: People who are emotionally, physically and sexually attracted to people of either gender.

Heterosexual: People who are attracted to the opposite sex.

Transgender: Refers to individuals whose sense of being a man or a woman does not correspond to their biological sex.

Two-Spirited: Refers to First Nations peoples whose sexual and romantic feelings are primarily for the same gender who, historically, were revered as embodying both female and male spirits. (*Calgary Birth Control Association, Celebrating Diversity*, 2004)

In *Under The Radar*, the following definitions were also included:

Gay refers to a young man who has embraced and accepted a gay (homosexual/ same sex) sexual identity while he is hustling/working.

Gay for Pay refers to a young man who is heterosexual in his off-street sexual identity; however, to survive he will be 'gay for pay', becoming involved in sexual activities with male customers. This also means that only during the time they are hustling/working will they demonstrate and/or perform gay sexual activities. Often customers find the potential opportunity to alter a young man's heterosexual orientation very attractive.

Straight for Pay refers to a young man who is gay in his off-street sexual identity; however, to survive he will become 'straight for pay'. They appear as very "macho" young men while they are on the street, and approach customers as straight. Some male customers find it attractive to engage a young straight macho man in sexual activity.

[&]quot;Yes, because it easier to hook high." (Stu)



Some customers find it very satisfying to think a young straight man would be prepared to alter their orientation to be with them.

Tranny refers to a young man who has entered the world of being a woman or a 'transvestite'. This means they will dress and conduct themselves as a woman. They wear women's clothing and makeup, and style their hair as a woman. Some of those interviewed appear as women at all times. Others interviewed described themselves as being a Tranny in their personal life but not while working on the street.

Bisexual describes a young man who is attracted to both genders. He identifies with both sexual identities. For some young men, seeing themselves as bisexual eased the transition to work with male customers. Some only saw bisexual behavior with men occurring when they worked in the sexual exploitation trade. Others lived a full bisexual life while in and out of the trade. Others identified as bisexual even though they were gay as some customers like the opportunity to see that a young man was attracted to women but chose to be with a male customer.

There is value in clarifying sexual identities prior to the actual discussion of selecting sexual identities when working/hustling and private, non-work time. The following hustling/ working sexual orientations were identified:

Sexual Orientation	BC	AB	SK	MN	TOTAL
On Street					
Gay	4/16	5/20	15/34	9/26	33/96
	25%	25%	44%	35%	34%
Bi-Sexual	2/16	3/20	7/34	4/26	16/96
	13%	15%	21%	15%	17%
Trannie/Woman	4/16	6/20	5/34	7/26	22/96
	25%	30%	15%	27%	23%
Gay for Pay	2/16	4/20	4/34	3/26	13/96
	13%	20%	12%	12%	14%
Straight For Pay	2/16	1/20	1/34	1/26	5/96
	3%	5%	3%	4%	5%
Confused	1/16	1/20	2/34	1/26	5/96
	6%	5%	6%	4%	5%
Don't Know	1/16	0/20	0/34	1/26	2/96
	6%	0%	0%	4%	2%



Some of the individuals labeled themselves transgender but as being 'Two-Spirited'. The following is a specific description that was crafted at a conference in the late 1990's:

The term Two-Spirited has a number of meanings within several different contexts. "Two-Spirited" means Aboriginal people who identify themselves as gay or lesbian. The terms gay or lesbian are of European origin. Therefore, "Two-Spirited" is preferred because it is more culturally relevant to Aboriginal lesbians and gays. (Two-Spirited People of the 1st Nations, We Are Part of a Tradition, 1998)

Sexual Orientation in Private Life

It became clear during *Under The Radar* that there was a difference in sexual orientation while working and in a person's private life. This was not a question that had been asked previously of women but it was similar.

Many select a different sexual identity in their private lives. For instance, a young man who is gay for pay in his work life for survival sex but is clearly heterosexual in his private life. The distinction between work and private life allow these young men to separate and thrive as an individual. A work sexual construct and private sexual construct supports and eases the lives of these young men.

Sexual	BC	AB	SK	MN	TOTAL
Orientation					
Private Life					
Gay	5/16	5/20	17/34	9/26	36/96
	31%	25%	50%		38%
Straight	5/16	5/20	7/34	3/26	20/96
	31%	25%	21%		21%
Bi-sexual	1/16	4/20	4/34	3/26	12/96
	6%	20%	12%		13%
Trannie	4/16	4/20	3/34	9/26	20/96
	25%	20%	9%	35%	20%
Confused	1/16	1/20	2/34	1/26	5/96
	6%	5%	0%	0%	5%
Don't Know	1/16	0/20	0/34	1/26	2/96
	6%	0%	0%	4%	2%



Regulars and Sugar Daddies

Eighty-four of the 96 had regular customers or a "sugar daddy". The role for a young man who enters into a relationship with a sugar daddy is that of being available in a public manner for the individual who is a sugar daddy. A sugar daddy is a gay man seeking a visible, public companionship with a young man. Food, shelter, clothing, cash and substances such as alcohol are part of the relationship. A young man who would enter into such a relationship would be considered gay in his sexual orientation while working and most likely privately.

	BC	AB	SK	MN	TOTAL
Sugar Daddies or	15/16	15/20	31/34	23/26	84/96
Regulars	94%	75%	91%	88%	86%

A "gay for pay" young man would not seek out such a public display; they are clearly heterosexual but work as a gay young person to earn money. Their sexual orientation is gay only when they are involved in the sexual exploitation trade. They would be more inclined to seek a regular customer in private and have an impersonal relationship with them yet a consistent person.

"A place to stay for the night. Fifty dollars and all the food I could eat." (Marcus)

"Money, drugs, cigarettes, booze, food, entertainment, everything." (Sean)

"Money, alcohol they buy me whatever I want." (Ted)

"Money, trips, hotels, food, etc" (Sam)

"Transportation, money, food and cuddles if I wanted them." (Wil)

"Free trips, various things you could not afford yourself." (Terry)

Work Movement

This population was transient in the nature of their work. Sixty-three individuals had traveled and worked in different cities and provinces. Forty-two percent remained in one province. A total of 58% traveled this country and had worked in various provinces and cities.

Young men in the sexual exploitation tend to travel together or visit one another in Canada. Only 5% had worked out of the country primarily in the United States.



A traditional trafficking exchange seems non-existent for young men as it appears much more collegial in nature. Young men described being moved or transported to other communities by other workers or sugar daddies. What is important is that this population is vulnerable. Fifty-eight percent are already disconnected or in a strained relationship with family members. Movement to other cities, provinces or countries further alienates this population from their community and supports. Isolation and disconnection from community and family prevents the opportunity to attempt exits from sexual exploitation. Furthermore, the lack of child rearing and isolation speaks to a rationale of why young men stay in sexual exploitation much longer than their female counterparts.

	TABLE WESTERN CANADA 96 ABORGINAL YOUNG MEN									
	BC	AB	SK	MN	TOTAL					
Worked 1 City in	6/16 = 37%	5/20 = 25%	12/34 = 35%	10/26 = 38%	33/96 = 34%					
Province										
Worked 2 Cities	2/16 = 12%	2/20 = 10%	2/34 = 6%	1/26 = 4%	7/96 = 7%					
in Province										
Worked in 2	3/16 = 19%	8/20 = 40%	6/34 = 18%	6/26 = 23%	23/96 = 24%					
Provinces										
Worked in 3	4/16 = 25%	3/20 = 15%	14/34 = 41%	7/26 = 27%	28/96 = 29%					
Provinces										
Worked Canada	1/16 = 6%	2/20 = 10%	0/34 = 0%	2/26 = 8%	5/96 = 5%					
and USA										
Worked in two or					56/96= 58%					
more provinces										

Concluding Discussion and Recommendations

We have seen how there are potential risk factors which can lead young people into sexual exploitation. A background of sexual abuse, physical abuse and being thrown out or running away from home increases the probability of an entrance into sexual exploitation for survival. We need to pay close attention to these risk factors which can heighten the reality of an entrance into the survival world of sexual exploitation.

Given these research findings, we would recommend the following actions be taken:

- 1. That an environmental scan be undertaken and completed at a national level looking at the services and supports available to sexually exploited young men. It should examine the extent of services available to Aboriginal sexually exploited young men given their overrepresentation in Western Canada. It will also be important that this document be province and city specific.
- **2.** That studies such as *Under the Radar* be completed in other parts of Canada (e.g. Central and Eastern Canada) looking at the sexual exploitation of young men. National studies have been completed on females in sexual exploitation but not on males. This would provide an opportunity to have a complete picture of sexually exploited young men in Canada and the level of Aboriginal representation.



- **3.** That specific research is undertaken that focuses on the issue of transgendered and/or Two-Spirited persons. That education and training be developed for educators, social service providers, health care workers, police, family and the general public in reference to transgendered and Two-Spirited persons.
- **4.** That programs and services be designed, implemented and evaluated that are specifically focused on young sexually exploited young men; and that sexually exploited young men be the primary focus in this process. Specific attention should be directed toward the risk factors facing Aboriginal persons.
- 5. That a Federal Territorial Provincial Working Group be set up to look at sexually exploited young men. Establishing a gender-specific committee will ensure their needs are being considered from a program, policy and legal prospective.
- **6.** That specific prevention and training programs be developed in looking at sexually exploited Aboriginal persons. Prevention programs and training materials should be designed, developed and delivered examining the role residential schools have played in impacting parents and their communities. These programs could be delivered to families, parents and the community both urban, rural and on reserve.
- 7. That training and education be designed and delivered to government, correctional and social service practitioners and students on the issue of sexual exploitation of young men including Transgendered and Two-Spirited individuals. Focus should be directed to the overrepresentation of Aboriginal persons and the relationship this has to residential school history.



Bibliography

- Ackard, D. M. & Neumark-Sztainer, D. (2001). Health Care Information Sources for Adolescents: Age and Gender Differences on Use, Concerns, and Needs. <u>Journal of Adolescent Health</u>, Vol. 29, No. 3, pp. 170-176.
- AIDS Calgary Awareness Association. (1999, April). <u>Male sex trade workers: A literature and program review</u>. Calgary, AB: Jennifer L. Olsen.
- AIDS Vancouver. (n.d.). <u>Boy's r us, in our own words: Everybody's survival plan is different.</u> Vancouver, BC: Terry Trussler.
- Ainyette, I. G., Templer, D. I., Brown, R., & Veaco, L. (1988). Adolescent Female Prostitutes, Archives of Sexual Behaviour, Vol. 17, No. 5, pp. 431-438.
- Alberta Council of Women's Shelters. (2010). *The Need for a Domestic Violence Death Review Committee in Alberta*. Retrieved from http://www.acws.ca/position-statements.php
- Alexander, P. (1987). Prostitution: A Difficult Issue for Feminists. In F. Delacoste & P. Alexander (Eds.), Sex Work Writings by Women in the Sex Industry (pp. 184-214). Pittsburgh: Cleis Press.
- Allen, D.M. (1980). Young male prostitutes: A psychosocial study. <u>Archives of Sexual Behaviour</u>, Vol. 9, No. 5, pp. 399-426.
- Allman, D. (1999). M is for mutual A is for acts: Male sex work and AIDS in Canada. Ottawa, ON: Health Canada.
- Allman, D., Fenning, J., Gibson, P., Holmes, J., Hutchison, D., Laboucane-Yemn, Y., Manzon, L., Muirhead, K., Norman, J., & Kootney/Boundary Community Health Services Society. (2000, April). Sex in exchange for money or goods: Prostitution and HIV testing practices in a rural population of men and women in the interior of British Columbia. Paper presented to the ninth annual conference on HIV/AIDS research, Montreal, QUE.
- Allman, D. & Myers, T. (1999). Male Sex Work and HIV/AIDS in Canada. In P. Aggleton (Ed.), Men Who Sex. (pp. 61-82). London: UCL Press.
- Anderson, E. (1974). Prostitution & Social Justice Chicago 1910-15. <u>Social Service Review</u>, Vol. 48, pp. 203-228.
- Armstrong, E. G. (1981). The Sociology of Prostitution. <u>Sociological Spectrum</u>, #1, pp. 91-102.
- Atkinson, L. (1989). Social Policy Aspects of Human Sexuality. In K. McKinney & S. Sprecher (Eds.), <u>Human Sexuality: The Societal Context</u> (pp. 463-486). Norwood: Ablex Publishing Corporation.
- Aubry, D. (1996). <u>Perceptions of interagency collaboration.</u> Unpublished master's thesis, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB.



- Aubry, D. (1997, Spring). Cover story. CCASA News, Vol. 1.1, pp. 1-3.
- Bagley, C. (1991). Study of 40 former prostitutes in Calgary and Edmonton. <u>Annals of Sex Research</u>, Vol. 4, pp. 32-33.
- Baizerman, M., Thompson, J. & White-Stafford, K., (1979). Adolescent Prostitution. <u>Children</u> Today, September/October, pp. 20-24.
- Barker, G. (2000). What About Boys? A Literature Review on the Health and Development of Adolescent Boys. Switzerland: World Health Organization.
- Baron, S. W. (2003). Street Youth Violence and Victimization. <u>Trauma, Violence, & Abuse</u>, Vol. 4 No. 1, pp. 22-44.
- Barrett, D. & Beckett, W., (1996). Child Prostitution: Reaching Out to Children Who Sell Sex to Survive. <u>British Journal of Nursing</u>, Vol. 5, pp. 1120-1125.
- Barry, K. (1979). Female Sexual Slavery. New Jersey: Englewood Cliffs.
- Bazemore, G. (2001). Young People, Trouble and Crime: Restorative Justice as a Normative Theory of Informal Social Control and Social Support. <u>Youth and Society</u>, Vol. 33, No. 2, pp. 199-226.
- Bell, L. (Ed.) (1987). Good Girls/Bad Girls: Sex Trade Workers and Feminists Face to Face. Toronto: The Women's Press.
- Bell, S. J. (2002). <u>Young Offenders and Juvenile Justice: A Century After the Fact</u>. Scarborough: Nelson.
- Berg-Kelly, K. (2003). Adolescent Health, School Health Activities, Community Contexts, and Health Surveys in Sweden. <u>Journal of Adolescent Health</u>. Vol. 33, pp. 226-230.
- Beyers, J. M. & Loeber, R. (2003). Untangling Developmental Relations Between Depressed Mood and Delinquency in Male Adolescents. <u>Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology</u>. Vol. 31, No. 3, pp. 247-266.
- Borchert, J. & Heinberg, L. (1996). Gender Schema and Gender Role Discrepancy as Correlates of Body Image. The Journal of Psychology. Vol. 30, No. 5, pp. 547-559.
- Bour, D., Young, J. & Henningsen, R. (1989). A Comparison of Delinquent Prostitutes and Delinquent Non-prostitutes of Self Concept. <u>Journal of Offender Counselling Services and Rehabilitation</u>, Vol. 9, No. 1, pp. 89-101.
- Bowlby, J. (1987). Attachment & Loss: Volume 2, Volume 3, Middlesex: Penguin Books.
- Box, S. (1983). Power, Crime and Mystification. London: Tavistock Publications Limited.
- Boyer, D. (1989). Male Prostitution and Homosexual Identity. <u>Journal of Homosexuality</u>, Vol. 17, Nos. 1-2, pp. 151-184.



- Boyer, D. & James, J. (1982). Easy Money: An Adolescent Involvement in Prostitution. In S. Davidson (Ed.), <u>Justice for Young Women: Close Up on Critical Issues</u> (pp.73-97). Tuscon: New Directories for Young Women.
- Bracey, D. (1983). The Juvenile Prostitute: Victim and Offender. <u>Victimology</u>, Vol. 7, No. 3-4, pp. 151-160.
- Brannigan, A. (1994). <u>Victimization of prostitutes in Calgary and Winnipeg</u> (TR1996-15e). Ottawa, ON: Department of Justice Canada.
- Brock, D. (n.d.). Prostitutes are scapegoats in the AIDS panic. <u>Resources for Feminist Research</u>, Vol. 18, No. 2, pp. 13-17.
- Brock, D. (1985-86). From Hooker to Harlot: Myths of Prostitution. <u>Broadside</u>, Vol. 7, No.6, pp. 8-9.
- Brock, R. D. & Kinsman, G. (1986). Patriarchal Relations Ignored: A Critique of the Badgley Report on Sexual Offences Against Children and Youths. In J. Lowman, M.A. Jackson, T.S. Palys & S. Gavigan (Eds.), <u>Regulating Sex: An Anthology of Commentaries on the Badgley and Fraser Reports</u> (pp. 107-125) Burnaby, BC: School of Criminology, Simon Fraser University.
- Brown, J. & Victor, M. (1996). Research Directions in Male Sex Work. <u>Journal of Homosexuality</u>, Vol. 31, No. 4, pp. 29-56.
- Brown, M. (1979). Teenage Prostitution. Adolescence, Vol. XIV, No. 56, pp. 663-679.
- Bryant, C. & Palmer, E. (1975). Massage Parlours and 'Handwhores': Some Sociological Observations. The Journal of Sex Research, Vol. 11, No. 3, pp. 227-241.
- Burgess-Wolbert, A. & Birnbaum H. J. (1984). Youth Prostitution. <u>American Journal of Nursing</u>, Vol. 82, pp. 833-835.
- Burnett, J. W., Anderson, W. P., & Heppner, P. P. (1995). Gender Roles and Self-Esteem: A Consideration of Environmental Factors. <u>Journal of Counseling & Development</u>, Vol. 73, No. 3, pp. 323-326.
- Burton, D. L. (2003). Male Adolescents: Sexual Victimization and Subsequent Sexual Abuse. <u>Child and Adolescent Social Work Journal</u>, Vol. 20, No. 4, pp. 277-296.
- Calgary Rocky View Child and Family Services. (1998, November 9). Meeting minutes from Protection of Children Involved in Prostitution Act Partner's Planning Committee, Calgary, AB.
- Canadian Child Welfare Association (CCWA). (1987). <u>Proceedings of the National Consultation on Adolescent Prostitution</u>, Mont Tremblant, QU: CCWA.
- Caplan, G. (1984). The Facts of Life About Teenage Prostitution. <u>Crime and Delinquency</u>, Vol. 30, No. 1, pp. 69-74.
- Carmichael, K. (1982). A City and its Prostitutes. New Society, January, pp. 53-55.



- Cates, J.A. (1989). Adolescent male prostitution by choice. <u>Child and Adolescent Social Work</u>, Vol. 6, No. 2, pp. 151-156.
- Cates, J. A. & Markely, J. (1992). Demographic, Clinical and Personality Variables Associated with Male Prostitution by Choice. <u>Adolescence</u>, Vol. 27, No. 107, pp. 695-707.
- Caukins, E. S. & Coombs, R. N. (1976). The Psychodynamics of Male Prostitution. <u>American Journal of Psychotherapy</u>, Vol. 30, pp. 441-451.
- Chappell, H. (1986). The Rent Boy Scene. New Society, October 1986, pp. 8-9.
- Coleman, E. (1989). The development of male prostitution activity among gay and bisexual adolescents. In G. Herdt (Ed.) Gay and lesbian youth (pp. 131-149). Haworth Press.
- Committee on Labour and Human Resources. (1990). Examining the impact of homelessness and dislocation on young people in America, (S. Hrg. 101-822). Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Committee on Sexual Offences Against Children and Youth (CSOACY). (1984). <u>Sexual Offences Against Children</u>. Ottawa: Department of Supply and Services.
- Community and Social Development Department Report to the Special Planning Committee on Community and Protective Services Committee. (1997, September). <u>Prostitution in Victoria Park</u>. Calgary, AB.
- Connell, R.W. (1996). Teaching the Boys: New Research on Masculinity, and Gender Strategies for Schools. Teachers College Record, Vol. 98, No. 2, pp. 206-235.
- Corrado, R. & Markwart, A. (1994). The Need to Reform the YOA in Response to Violent Young Offenders: Confusion, Reality or Myth? <u>Canadian Journal of Criminology</u>, Vol. 36, pp. 343-378.
- Coyote/National Task Force on Prostitution. (1987). In F. Delacoste and P. Alexander (Eds.), <u>Sex Works Writings by Women in the Sex Industry</u>, (pp. 290-295). Pittsburgh: Cleis Press.
- Criminal Law Revision Committee. (1982). <u>17th Report: Prostitution: Off Street Activities</u>, London: Her Majesty's Stationery Office.
- Darrow, W. & The Centres for Disease Control Collaborative Group for the Study of HIV-1 in Selected Women. (1990). Prostitution, Intravenous Drug Use and HIV-1 in the United States. In M. Plant (Ed.), <u>Aids, Drugs and Prostitution</u>, (pp.18-40). London: Tavistock/Routledge.
- Davis, C., Hovsepian, A. M., Castle, T., Moynihan, M., Raven, C., & Comeau, G. (2000, September). The teacher's affair [Letter to the editor]. Elm Street, p. 18.
- Davis, K. (1937). The Sociology of Prostitution, <u>American Sociological Review</u>, Vol. 11, pp. 744-755.



- Dawes, M.; Clark, D.; Moss, H., Kirisci, L. & Tarter, R. (1999). Family and Peer Correlates of Behavioral Self-Regulation in Boys at Risk for Substance Abuse. <u>American Journal of Drug</u> Alcohol Abuse. Vol. 25, No. 3, pp. 219-237.
- Day, S. & Ward, H. (1990). The Pared Street Project: A Cohort of Prostitute Women in London. In M. Plant (Ed.), Aids, Drugs and Prostitution, (pp. 61-75). London: Tavistock/Routledge.
- Deisher, R., Robinson, G., & Boyer, D. (1982). The adolescent female and male prostitute. <u>Pediatric Annals</u>, Vol. 11, No. 10, pp. 819-820, pp. 822-825.
- Delacoste, F. & Priscilla, A. (Eds.) (1987). <u>Sex Work Writings by Women in the Sex Industry</u>, Pittsburgh: Cleis Press.
- Department of Justice Canada. (1996, April 18). <u>Ammendments tabled on child prostitution, child sex tourism, criminal harassment and female genital mutilation</u> [news release]. Ottawa, ON: Yvan Roy.
- Desai, M. & Apte, M. (1987). Status of Prostitutes and Deprivation of Family Care Among Their Children. <u>Indian Journal of Social Work</u>, Vol. 48, pp. 171-180.
- Dolan, L. (1999). <u>Gay for pay.</u> Unpublished under-graduate paper, University of Calgary, Calgary, Alberta.
- Dominelli, L. (1986). The Power of the Powerless: Prostitution and the Reinforcement of Submissive Femininity. Sociological Review, Vol. 31, pp. 65-102.
- Donnelly, D. A., & Kenyon, S. (1996). Honey we don't do men: Gender stereotypes and the provision of services to sexually assaulted males. <u>Journal of Interpersonal Violence</u>, Vol. 11, No. 3, p. 441-448.
- Dorias, M. (1996). The Coping Strategy of Boys who are Victims of Sexual Abuse. <u>Social Worker</u>, Vol. 64, pp. 75-88.
- Driscoll, J. P. (1971). "Transsexuals", Trans Action. <u>Social Science and Modern Society</u>, Vol. 8, No. 5, pp. 28-68.
- Dworkin, A. (1981). Pornography: Men Possessing Women, London: Women Press.
- Earls, C. M. & David, H. (1989). A Psychosocial Study of Male Prostitution. <u>Archives of Sexual Behavior</u>, Vol. 18, No. 5, pp. 401-419.
- Earls, C.M., & David, H. (1990, December). Early family and sexual experiences of male and female prostitutes. <u>Canada's Mental Health</u>, Vol. 38, No. 4, pp. 7-11.
- Edwards, Carla and Hendrix, Rebecca (2001). Traumagenic Dynamics in Adult Women Survivors of Childhood Sexual Abuse vs. Adolescent Male Sex Offenders with Similar Histories. <u>Journal of Offender Rehabilitation</u>, Vol. 33, No. 2, pp. 33-45.
- Edwards, S. (1984). Kerb Crawling and Allied Offences. <u>The Criminal Law Revision Committees</u>
 <u>Proposals</u>, Justice of the Peace, October 13, pp. 644-648.



- End Child Prostitution, Child Pornography and Trafficking in Children for Sexual Purposes (EPACT) http://www.epact.net, 2004.
- Ennew, J. (1986). Selling Children's Sexuality. New Society, August, pp. 9-11.
- Ericsson, L. (1980). Charges Against Prostitution: An Attempt at a Philosophical Assessment. Ethics, Vol. 90, pp. 335-366.
- Fairchilds, C. (1978). Female Sexual Attitudes and the Rise of Illegitimacy: A Case Study. <u>Journal of Inter Disciplinary History</u>, Vol. VIII, No. 4, pp. 627-667.
- Farrington, D. P., Jolliffe, D., Loeber, R., Stouthamer-Lowever, M. & Kalb, L. M. (2001). The Concentration of Offenders in Families, and Family Criminality in the Prediction of Boys' Delinquency. <u>Journal of Adolescence</u>, Vol. 24, pp. 579-596.
- Farrow, J.A. & Schroeder, E. (1984). Sexuality education groups in juvenile detention. <u>Adolescence</u>, Vol. XIX, No. 76, p. 817-826.
- Federal/Provincial Territorial Working Group on Prostitution. (1998, December). Report recommendations in respect of legislation, policy and practices concerning prostitution-related activities. Ottawa, ON: Department of Justice.
- Felson, R. B. & Haynie, D. L. (2002). Pubertal Development, Social Factors, and Delinquency Among Adolescent Boys. Criminology, Vol. 40, No. 4, pp. 967-988.
- Finkelhor, D. (1979). Sexually Victimized Children. New York: Free Press.
- Finnegan, F. (1979). <u>Poverty and Prostitution: A Study of Victorian Prostitutes in York</u>. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Fleishman, J. (1984). <u>A Report on Prostitution in Ontario: Working Papers on Pornography and Prostitution, Report No. 10</u>. Ottawa, ON: Department of Justice.
- Forsyth, C. & Fournet, L. (1987). A Typology of Office Harlots: Mistresses, Party Girls and Career Climbers. Deviant Behaviour, Vol. 8, pp. 319-328.
- Fortier, L. (1975). Women, Sex and Patriarchy. <u>Family Planning Perspectives</u>, Vol. 7, No. 6, pp. 278-281.
- Foster, C. (1991). Male Youth Prostitution: Perspectives, policy and practice. <u>Social Work</u> Monographs, Norwich (no. 100).
- Gelsthorpe, L. & Morris, A. (1990). (Eds.) <u>Feminist Perspectives in Criminology</u>. Milton Keynes: Open University Press.
- Glaser, G. B. & Strauss, L. A. (1967). <u>The Discovery of Grounded Theory: Strategies for Qualitative Research</u>. Chicago: Aldine Publishing Company.
- Glover, E. (1969). <u>The Psychopathology of Prostitution</u>. London Institute for Study and Treatment of Delinquency.



- Goldman, S. M. (1987). Prostitution, Economic Exchange and the Unconscious. In J. Rabin, G. M. Platt & M. Goldman (Eds.), <u>Advances in Psychoanalytical Sociology</u> (pp. 185-209). Malibu, FL: Robert E. Kreeger Publishing.
- Goldstein, P. (1983). Occupational Mobility in the World of Prostitution: Becoming a Madam. <u>Deviant Behaviour</u>, Vol. 4, pp. 267-279.
- Grant Makers Health. (2002). <u>Positive Youth Development: A Pathway to Healthy Teens</u>. (15), December, Washington, DC.
- Gray, D. (1973). Turning Out: A Study of Teenage Prostitution. <u>Urban Life and Culture</u>, January, pp. 401-425.
- Green, J.K., Mulroy, S., & O'Neill, M. (1997). Young People and Prostitution from a Youth Perspective. In D. Barret (Ed.), <u>Child Prostitution in Britain</u> (pp. 90-105). London: The Children's Society.
- Green, A., Day, S., & Ward, H. (2000). Crack Cocaine and Prostitution in London in the 1990's. Sociology of Health and Illness, Vol. 22, No.1, pp. 27-39.
- Greenman, M. (1990). Survivors of Prostitution Find Pride, Families in Society. <u>The Journal of</u> Contemporary Human Services, Vol. 71, pp. 110-113.
- Grossman, A.H. (1997). Growing up with a spoiled identity: Lesbian, gay and bisexual youth at risk. Journal of Gay & Lesbian Social Services, Vol. 6, No. 3, pp. 45-56.
- Hagan, J., & McCarthy, B., (1997). Mean Streets: Youth Crime and Homelessness. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Health Canada (1996). <u>The invisible boy: Revisioning the victimization of male children and teens</u>. National Clearing House on Family Violence, Health Promotion and Programs Branch (Cat. No.: H72-21/143-1996E). Ottawa, ON: Frederick Mathews.
- Health Canada (2000). Escort services in a border town: Transmission dynamics of sexually transmitted infections within and between communities. Division of STD Prevention and Control, Laboratory Centre for Disease Control. Ottawa, ON: Eleanor Maticka-Tyndale, & Jacqueline Lewis (University of Windsor, Department of Sociology and Anthropology).
- Heir, S.J., Korboot, P.J., & Schweitzer, R.D. (1990). Social adjustment and symptomatology in two types of adolescents: Run aways and throwaways. <u>Adolescence</u>, Vol. XXV, No. 100, pp. 761-771.
- Herman, J. (1981). Father-Daughter Incest. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Heyl, B. S. (1977). The Madam as Teacher. Social Problems, Vol. 24, No. 5, pp. 545-555.
- Hill-Collins, P. (1990). <u>Black Feminist Thought: Knowledge, Consciousness, and the Politics of Empowerment</u>. New York: Routledge.



- Hoigard, C. & Finstad, L. (1992). <u>Back Streets: Prostitution, Money & Love</u>. Cambridge, Polity Press.
- Holland, V. (1998). Underachieving Boys: Problems and Solutions. <u>Support for Learning</u>, Vol. 13, No. 4, pp. 174-178.
- Holzman, H. R. & Pines, S. (1982). Buying Sex: The Phenomenology of Being a John. <u>Deviant Behaviour</u>, Vol. 4, pp. 89-116.
- Hudson, A. (1990). Elusive Subjects: Researching Young Women in Trouble. In L. Gelsthorpe & A. Morris (Eds.), <u>Feminist Perspectives in Criminology</u>, (pp.115-123). Milton Keynes: Open University Press.
- Humphreys, L. (1975). <u>Tearoom Trade: Impersonal sex in public places</u>. New York: Aldine de Gruyter.
- Inciardi, J. (1989). Little Girls and Sex: A Glimpse at the World of the 'Baby Pro'. <u>Deviant Behaviour</u>, Vol. 5, pp. 71-78.
- Jackson, L., Highcrest, A., & Coates, R.A. (1992). Varied potential risks of HIV infection among prostitutes. <u>Soc. Sci. Med.</u>, Vol. 35, No. 3, pp. 281-286.
- Jackson, L. H. (Rapporteur) (1998). <u>Voices from the Shadows: Canadian Children and Youth Speak</u>
 <u>Out About Their Lives as Street Sex Trade Workers.</u> Out From the Shadows: International Summit of Sexually Exploited Youth Project. National Summary, Canada.
- Jaget, C. (1980). Prostitutes: Our Life. Bristol: Falling Wall Press.
- James, J. & Meyerding, J. (1977). Early Sexual Experiences as a Factor in Prostitution. <u>Archives of Sexual Behaviour</u>, Vol. 7, No. 1, pp. 31-42.
- James, J. (1978). The Prostitute as Victim. In R. Fane & M. Gates (Eds.), <u>The Victimisation of Women</u>, (pp. 175-201) Beverley Hills: Sage Publications.
- James, J & Davis, N. (1982). Contingencies in Female Sexual Role Deviance: The Case of Prostitution. Human Organisation, Vol. 41, No. 4, pp. 345-350.
- James, J., Davis, N. & Vitaliano, P. (1982). Female Sexual Deviance: A Theoretical & Empirical Analysis. <u>Deviant Behaviour</u>, Vol. 3, No. 2, pp. 175-195.
- Jones-Lopez, N. (1987). Workers: Introducing the English Collective of Prostitutes. In F. Delacoste & P. Alexander, (Eds.), <u>Sex Writing By Women in the Sex Industry</u> (pp. 272-276). Pittsburgh: Cleis Press.
- Jordan, E. (1995). Fighting Boys and Fantasy Play: The Construction of Masculinity in the Early Years of School. Gender & Education, Vol. 7, No. 1, pp. 69-87.
- Kalichman, S. C., Benotsch, E., Rompa, D., Gore-Felton, C., Austin, J., Luke, W., et al. (2001). Unwanted Sexual Experiences and Sexual Risks in Gay and Bisexual Men: Associations



- Among Revictimization, Substance Use and Psychiatric Symptoms. <u>The Journal of Sex Research</u>. Vol. 38, No 1, pp.1-9.
- Karp, D. R. & Breslin, B. (2001). Restorative Justice in School Communities. <u>Youth & Society</u>, Vol. 33, No. 2, pp. 249-272.
- Kasl, C. (2000, May). <u>Hierarchy, patriarchy, & sexuality: What's love got to do with it?</u> Presented at From Answers to Action: A Conference on Healing Sexual Exploitation & Prostitution, Edmonton, AB.
- Kearins, E. (2000). Rent: The secret world of male prostitution in Dublin. Dublin: Marino Books.
- Kelly, L. (1990). Journeying in Reverse: Possibilities and Problems in Feminist Research on Sexual Violence. In L. Gelsthorpe & A. Morris (Eds.), <u>Feminist Perspectives in Criminology</u> (pp. 107-114). Milton Keynes: Open University Press.
- Kersten, J. (1990). The Institutional Control of Girls and Boys: An Attempt at a Gender-Specific Approach. In M. Cain (Ed.) <u>Growing Up Good</u> (pp. 107-114). Milton Keynes: Open University Press.
- Klein, A. M. (1989). Managing Deviance: Hustling, Homophobic and the Bodybuilding Structure. Deviant Behaviour, Vol. 10, No. 1, pp. 11-27.
- Kornblum, W. & Williams, T. (1981). Youth's Right to Work. Social Policy, May/June, pp. 44-49.
- Kowalkeski-Jones, L. & Mott, F. L. (1998). Sex, Contraception and Childbearing among High-Risk Youth: Do Different Factors Influence Males and Females? <u>Family Planning Perspectives</u>, Vol. 30, No. 4, pp. 163-170.
- Kruks, G., (1991). Gay and Lesbian Homeless/Street Youth: Special Issues and Concerns <u>Journal of</u> Adolescent Health, Vol. 12, pp. 515-518
- Kufeldt, K., & Nimmo, M. (1987). Youth on the street: Abuse and neglect in the eighties. Child Abuse & Neglect, 11, 531-543.
- Laub, John H. and Vaillant, George E. (2000). "Delinquency and Mortality: A 50-Year Follow-Up Study of 1,000 Delinquent and Nondelinquent Boys". <u>American Journal of Psychiatry</u>. Vol. 175 No. 1: January, pp: 96-102.
- Lederer, L. (1980). Pornography: Who Is Hurt. In Laura Lederer and Adriene Rich (Eds.), <u>Take Back the Night: Women on Pornography</u>, (pp. 45-59). Toronto, Bantam Books.
- Lowman, J. (1984). <u>Vancouver Field Study of Prostitution</u>, Working Papers on Pornography and Prostitution, No. 8. Ottawa, Department of Justice.
- Lowman, J. (1986). Taking young prostitutes seriously. In J. Lowman, M.A. Jackson, T.S. Palys, & S. Gavigan (Eds.), <u>Regulating sex: An anthology of commentaries on the Badgley and Fraser Reports</u> (pp. 99-116). Burnaby, BC: School of Criminology, Simon Fraser University.



- Lowman, J. (1987). Taking young prostitutes seriously, <u>Canadian Review of Sociology and Anthropology</u>. Vol. 24, No.1, pp. 98-116.
- Lowman, John (2000). Violence and the Outlaw Status of (Street) Prostitution in Canada. <u>Violence Against Women</u>. Vol. 6, No. 9, September, pp: 987-1011.
- Luckenbill, D. (1985). Entering Male Prostitution, <u>Urban Life</u>, Vol. 14, No. 2, July pp. 131-153.
- Lundy, C. and Totten, M. (1997). <u>Youth on the Fault Line</u> Social Worker, Vol. 65, No. 3, fall, pp. 98-106.
- MacInnes, R.A. (1998). Children in the Game. Calgary, AB: Street Teams.
- MacKinnon, C. (1989). Sexuality, Pornography & Method: Pleasure Under Patriarchy, Ethics, Vol. 99, pp. 315-346.
- Manocha, Kishan F. and Mezey, Gillian (1998). British Adolescents who Sexually Abuse: A Descriptive Study. The Journal of Forensic Psychiatry. Vol. 9, No. 3, December, pp. 588-608.
- Mansson, S. A., and Hedin, U.C., (1999). Breaking the Matthew Effect on Women Leaving Prostitution. <u>International Journal of Social Welfare</u>, Vol. 8, pp. 67-77.
- Marcell, Arik V. and Monasterio, Erica B. (2003). Providing Anticipatory Guidance and Counseling to the Adolescent Male. <u>Adolescent Medicine: State of the Art Reviews</u>. Vol.14, No.3, October, pp. 565-582.
- Marcell, Arik V.; Raine, Tina and Eyre, Stephen L. (2003). Where Does Reproductive Health Fit into the Lives of Adolescent Males?. <u>Perspectives on Sexual and Reproductive Health</u>. Vol. 35, No.4, pp.180-186.
- Markos, A.R., Wade, A.A.H., & Walzman, M. (1994). The adolescent male prostitute and sexually transmitted diseases, HIV and AIDS. Journal of Adolescence, Vol. 17, pp.123-130.
- Mathews, F. (1987/1989). <u>Familiar strangers: A study of adolescent prostitution.</u> Toronto, ON: Central Toronto Youth Services.
- Mathews, F. (1989). <u>A Study of Adolescent Prostitution.</u> Central Toronto Youth Services, Revised Edition.
- Matthews, L. (1990). Outreach Work with Female Prostitutes in Liverpool. In Martin Plant (Ed.), Aids, Drugs and Prostitution, (pp. 76-87). London, Tavistock/Routledge.
- Matthews, P. (1988). On Being A Prostitute. Journal of Homosexuality, Vol. 15, pp. 119-135.
- May, Ronald (2002). The Challenge of Raising Emotionally Healthy Boys. <u>Wisconsin Medical</u> Journal. Vol. 101, No. 4, pp. 41-45.
- McCormack, A., Janus, M., & Burgess, A.W. (1990). Run away youths and sexual victimization: Gender differences in an adolescent run away population. <u>Child Abuse & Neglect</u>, Vol. 10, pp. 387-395.



- McCreary Centre Society (2002). Accenting the Positive: A Developmental Framework for Reduing Risk and Promoting Positive Outcomes Among BC Youth. The McCreary Centre Society: Burnaby.
- McDonald, M., & Mathison, J. (2000, Spring). Punishment or protection: Looking both ways at Bill one, the protection of children involved in prostitution legislation in Alberta. <u>Les enfants du Canada/Canada's Children</u>, pp. 31-33.
- McIntosh, M (1976). Who Needs Prostitutes: The Ideology of Male Sexual Needs in Women. In C. Smart & B. Smart (Eds.), <u>Sexuality & Social Control</u>, (pp. 71-92). London, Routledge & Keegan Paul.
- McIntyre, S. (1983) <u>Theoretical and Policy Issues of Child Sexual Abuse in England and Canada</u>, M.A. Thesis, University of Sheffield.
- McIntyre, S. (1994). <u>The Youngest Profession: The Oldest Oppression.</u> Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Sheffield, Great Britain.
- McIntyre, S. (1999). The Youngest Profession-The Oldest Oppression: A Study of Sex Work. In C. Bagley and K. Mallick (eds.), <u>Child Sexual Abuse and Adult Offenders: New Theory and Research.</u> pp. 159-192. Calgary, AB.
- McIntyre, S. (2005). <u>Under the Radar Alberta</u>. Calgary, AB.
- McIntyre, S. (2006). Under the Radar The Sexual Exploitation of Young Men in British Columbia.
- McIntyre, S. (2008) Under the Radar The Sexual Exploitation of Young Men in Saskatchewan
- McIntyre, S. (2008) Under the Radar the Sexual Exploitation of Young Men in Manitoba.
- McKeganey, N., Barnard, M. & Bloor, M. (1990) "A Comparison of HIV-related Risk Behaviour & Risk Reduction Between Female Street Working Prostitutes and Male Rent Boys in Glasgow", Sociology of Health & Illness, Vol. 12, No. 3, September, pp. 274-292.
- McKeganey, N. (1994). Why do men buy sex and what are their assessments of the HIV-related risks when they do? AIDS Care, Vol. 6, pp. 289-301.
- McKeganey, N.P. and Barnard M. (1996) Sex Work in the Streets: Prostitutes and Their Clients. Open University Press, Buckingham, England
- McLeod, E. (1979) Working with Prostitutes: Probation Officer's Aims & Strategies, <u>British Journal of Social Work</u>, Vol. 9, No. 14, Winter pp. 453-469.
- McLeod, E. (1981). Man Made Laws for Men: The Street Prostitutes Campaign Against Control. In Bridget Hutter and Gillian Williams (Eds.) <u>Controlling Women</u>, pp. 61-78. London, Croom Helm.
- McLeod, E. (1982) Women Working: Prostitution, London, Croom Helm Limited.



- McMullen, J. R. (1987) Youth Prostitution: A Balance of Power, <u>Journal of Adolescence</u>, Vol. 10, pp. 35-43.
- Messerschmidt, James W. (1993). <u>Masculinities and Crime: Critque and Reconceptualization of Theory</u>. Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, Inc.
- Messerchmidt, James W. (2000). Becoming 'Real Men': Adolescent Masculinity Challenges and Sexual Violence. Men and Masculinities, Vol. 2, No. 3, January, pp. 286-307.
- Metts, S. & Cupach, R. W. (1989). The Role of Communication in Human Sexuality. In Kathleen McKinney and Susan Sprecher (Eds.), <u>The Societal and Interpersonal Context</u>, pp. 139-161. Norwood, New Jersey, Ablex Publishing Corporation.
- Miller, A.T., Eggertson-Tacon, C., & Quigg, B. (1990). Patterns of run away behavior within a larger systems context: The road to empowerment. <u>Adolescence</u>, XXV (98), 271-289.
- Miller, R.L., Klotz, D., & Eckholdt, H.M. (1998). HIV prevention with male prostitutes and patrons of hustler bars: replication of an HIV preventive intervention. <u>American journal of Community Psychology</u>, Vol, 26, No. 1, pp. 97-131.
- Millett, K. (1971) <u>The Prostitution Papers: A Quartet for Female Voice</u>, New York, Ballantine Books.
- Millman, M. (1975) She Did It All For Love: A Feminist View of the Sociology of Deviance. <u>Sociological Inquiry</u>, Vol. 45, No. 3, pp. 251-277.
- Mordoch, E. (1998). <u>The living room: Evaluative report.</u> Winnipeg, MB: University of Manitoba, Faculty of Nursing.
- Nandon S., Koverola C., and Schludermann E., (1998). Antecedents to Prostitution: Childhood Victimization. Journal of Interpersonal Violence, Vol. 13, No. 2, April 1998, pp. 206-221.
- National Youth in Care Network (1987) Juvenile Prostitution Survey, Ottawa, NYCN
- Newberger, Eli H. (1999). <u>The Men They Will Become: The Nature and Nurture of Male</u> Character. Massachusetts: Perseus Books.
- Newman, F. & Caplan, J. P. (1981). Juvenile Prostitution as Gender Consistent Response to Early Deprivation. <u>International Journal of Women's Studies</u>, Vol. 5, No. 2, pp. 128-133.
- Out from the shadows: International summit of sexually exploited youth, (1998). <u>Speaking out together</u> [booklet]. Vancouver, BC: Save the Children Canada.
- Overs, C., & Longo, P. (1997). Making sex work safe. London, UK: Russell Press.
- Parker, Andrew (1996). The Construction of Masculinity within Boys' Physical Education. <u>Gender & Education</u>. Vol. 8, No. 2, pp. 141-159.
- Parker, M., Ward, H., & Day, S. (1998). <u>Sexual networks and the transmission of HIV in London.</u> United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press.



- Pateman, C. (1990). Defending Prostitution: Charges Against Ericsson. In Cass, R. Sunstein (Ed.), Feminism & Political Theory, (pp. 201-206). Chicago, The University of Chicago Press.
- Pittman, D. (1971). The Male House of Prostitution. <u>Transaction Social Science and Modern Society</u>, Vol. 8, No. 5/6, pp. 21-27.
- Plant, M. (1990). Aids, Drugs and Prostitution. London: Tavistock/Routledge.
- Pleak, R.R. & Meyer-Bahlburg, H.F.L. (1990). Sexual behaviour and AIDS knowledge of young male prostitutes in Manhattan. <u>The Journal of Sex Research</u>, Vol. 27, No. 4, pp. 557-587.
- Pollack, W. (1998). <u>Real boys: Rescuing our boys from the myths of boyhood</u>. New York: Henry Holt and Company.
- Potterat, J. J., Woodhouse, B.A., Donald, E., Muth, J. B. & Muth, S.Q. (1990). Estimating the Prevalence and Career Longevity of Prostitute Women. <u>The Journal of Sex Research</u>, Vol. 27, No. 2, pp. 233-243.
- Price, V., Scanlon, B & Janus, M. D. (1984). Social Characteristics of Adolescent Male Prostitution. <u>Victimology</u>, Vol. 9, No. 2, pp. 211-221.
- Price, V. A. (1989). Characteristics and Needs of Boston Street Youth: One Agency's Response. Children and Youth Services Review, Vol. 11, pp. 75-90.
- Prostitution Policy, Service and Research Committee for Calgary. (n.d.). <u>Handbook for action</u> against prostitution of youth in Calgary. [Brochure]. Calgary, AB.
- Province of Alberta. (1998). <u>Protection of children involved in prostitution act</u> (PCHIP) Edmonton, AB: Queen's Printer for Alberta.
- Pyett, P. & Warr, D. (1999). Women at Risk in Sex Work: Strategies for Survival. <u>Journal of Sociology</u>, Vol. 35, No. 2, pp. 183-197.
- Remafedi, G. (2004). Personal correspondence.
- Report of the Committee on Sexual Offences Against Children (Badgley Report). (1984). Ottawa, ON: Minister of Justice and Attorney General of Canada; and the Minister of National Health and Welfare.
- Report of the Special Committee on Pornography and Prostitution (Fraser Committee). (1985). Ottawa, ON: Minister of Supply and Services in Canada.
- ReVaMP Advisory Committee (2000, January 27). <u>ReVaMP Advisory Committee Terms of Reference</u>. Calgary, AB.
- Ritch, A. & Michaud, M. (1985). <u>Juvenile Prostitution: A Profile</u>. Vancouver, BC: West Coast Consultants.
- Rosenblum, E. K. (1975). Female Deviance and the Female Sex Role: A Preliminary Investigation. <u>British Journal of Sociology</u>, Vol. 29, No. 2, pp. 169-185.



- Ross, M. B. (1998). In Search of Black Men's Masculinities. <u>Feminist Studies</u>, Vol. 24, No. 3, pp. 599-626.
- Rotundo, A. (1987). Learning About Manhood: Gender Ideals and the Middle-Class Family in 19th Century America. In J.A. Mangan & W. Jones (Eds.), <u>Manliness and Morality: Middle-Class</u> Masculinity in Britain & America 1800-1940, (pp. 35-55). Manchester: University Press.
- Rush, F. (1980). The Best Kept Secret: Sexual Abuse of Children, New York: McGraw Hill.
- Sanford, J. (1979). <u>Prostitutes: Portraits of People in the Sexploitation Business</u>. London: Martin Secker and Warburg Limited.
- Sansfacon, D. (1985). <u>Prostitution in Canada: A Research Review Report</u>. Ottawa, ON: Department of Justice.
- Sarrel, P.M., & Masters, W.H. (1980). Sexual molestation of men by women. <u>Archives of Sexual Behaviour</u>, Vol. 11, No. 2, pp. 117-131.
- Schmidt, S. (2000, Summer). Sleeping with the teacher. Elm Street, Vol. 4, pp. 22-34.
- Seng, J. M. (1986). Sexual Behaviour Between Adults and Children: Some Issues of Definition. <u>Journal of Offender Counselling, Services and Rehabilitation</u>, Vol. 11, No. 1, pp. 47-61.
- Seng, J.M. (1989). Child sexual abuse and adolescent prostitution: A comparative analysis. Adolescence, Vol. XXIV, No. 95, pp. 665-675.
- Sex Workers Alliance of Vancouver (SWAV), http://www.walnet.org/swav/, 2004.
- Shafer, M., Hilton, J. F., Ekstrand, M., Keogh, J., Gee, L., DiGiorgio-Haah, L., et al. (1993). Relationship Between Drug Use and Sexual Behaviors and the Occurrence of Sexually Transmitted Diseases Among High-Risk Male Youth. <u>Sexually Transmitted Diseases</u>, Vol. 20, No. 6, pp. 307-313.
- Shaver, F. M. (1985). Prostitution: A Critical Analysis of Three Policy Approaches. <u>Canadian</u> Public Policy, Vol. 11, No. 3, pp. 493-503.
- Shaver, F.M. (1993). Prostitution a female crime? In E. Adelberg & C. Currie (Eds.), <u>Conflict with the law: Women and the Canadian justice system</u>, (pp. 153-173). Vancouver: Press Gang.
- Shrage, L. (1990). Should Feminists Oppose Prostitution. In C. R. Sunstein (Ed.), <u>Feminism & Political Theory</u>, (pp. 185-200). Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Silbert, M. H. & Pines, A.M. (1983). Victimization of street prostitutes. <u>Victimology: An</u> International Journal, Vol. 7, 122-133.
- Silbert, M., Pines, A. & Lynch, T. (1982). Substance Abuse and Prostitution. <u>Journal of Psychoactive Drugs</u>, Vol. 13, No. 3, pp. 193-197.
- Silbert, M. & Pines, A. (1982a). Entrance into Prostitution. Youth and Society, June pp. 471-500.



- Silbert, M. & Pines, A. (1982b). Victimization of Street Prostitutes. <u>Victimology: An International Journal</u>, Vol. 7, Nos. 1-4, pp. 122-133.
- Silbert, M. & Pines, A. (1983). Early Sexual Exploitation as an Influence in Prostitution. <u>Social Work</u>, July/August, pp. 285-289.
- Silbert, M. & Pines, A. (1984). Pornography and Sexual Abuse of Women. <u>Sex Roles</u>, Vol. 10, Nos. 11/12, pp. 857-868.
- Simon, P.M., Morse, E.V., Osofsky, H.J. & Balson, P.M. (1994). HIV and young male street prostitutes: a brief report. <u>Journal of Adolescence</u>, Vol. 17, pp. 193-197.
- Sinclair, R. L. & Boe, R. (1998). <u>Male Young Offenders in Canada: Revised Edition</u>. Research Branch: Corrections Canada.
- Skelton, C. (1996). Learning to be Tough: The Fostering of Maleness in One Primary School. Gender & Education, Vol. 8, No. 2, pp. 185-199.
- Smart, C. (1989). Feminism and the Power of Law, London: Routledge.
- Smith, B. A. & Pollach, H. (1976). Deviance as a Method of Coping. <u>Crime & Delinquency</u>, Vol. 22, January, pp. 3-16.
- Snell, C.L. (1995). <u>Young men in the street: Help-seeking behaviour of young male prostitutes</u>. Westport, CT: Praeger.
- Special Committee on Pornography and Prostitution (S.C.P.P.) (1985). <u>Pornography and Prostitution</u> in Canada, Ottawa, ON: Department of Supply and Services.
- Status of Women Canada. (1996). <u>Round table on child sex tourism: Summary report.</u> Ottawa, ON: Status of Women Canada.
- Sullivan, T. (1986). The Politics of Juvenile Prostitution in Regulating Sex. In J. Lowman, M.A. Jackson, T.S. Palys & S. Gavigan (Eds.), <u>An Anthology of Commentaries on the Findings and Recommendations of the Badgley and Fraser Reports</u>, (pp. 177-192). Burnaby, BC: School of Criminology, Simon Fraser University.
- Sullivan, T. (1985). Juvenile Prostitution: An Unspoken Vocational Option. <u>School Guidance</u> Worker, Vol. 4, No. 5, pp. 31-34.
- Taylor, A. (1991). Prostitution: What's Love Got To Do With It? London: Optima Press.
- Tomlinson, D. (1999). <u>Police-reporting decisions of sexual assault survivors: An exploration of influential factors</u>. Calgary, AB: Unpublished master's thesis, University of Calgary.
- Turner, C. & McClure, R.(2003). Age and Gender Differences in Risk-taking Behaviour as an Explanation for High Incidence of Motor Vehicle Crashes as a Driver in Young Males. <u>Injury Control and Safety Promotion</u>, Vol. 10, No. 3, pp. 123-130.



- Turvey, J. (1989, November). <u>Programs for street children: A Vancouver sample</u>. Calgary, AB: Paper presented at the Child Find Canada Conference.
- Tutty, L.M. (1996). <u>Item analysis summary: Who do you tell</u>. Calgary, AB: University of Calgary, Department of Social work.
- Tyler, K. A., Whitbeck, L. B., Hoyt, D. R. & Johnson, K. D. (2003). Self-Mutilation and Homeless Youth: The Role of Family Abuse, Street Experiences, and Mental Disorders. <u>Journal of Research on Adolescence</u>, Vol. 13, No. 4, pp. 457-474.
- Unger, J. B., Simon, T. R., Newman, T. L., Montgomery, S. B., Kipke, M. D. & Albornoz, M. (1998). Early Adolescent Street: An Overlooked Population With Unique Problem and Service Needs. <u>Journal of Early Adolescence</u>, Vol. 18, pp. 325-348.
- Valios, N. (2002). Damaged Beyond Repair? Community Care, Vol. 1405, pp. 32-33.
- Van Dijk, M. (1996). <u>Perceived health concerns and health service needs of female street prostitutes in Calgary</u>. Calgary, AB: Unpublished master's thesis, University of Calgary.
- Van Gemert, F. (1994). Chicken kills hawk: Gay murders during the eighties in Amsterdam. <u>Journal of Homosexuality</u>, Vol. 26, No. 4, pp. 149-174.
- Veiel, H.O.F. (1995, March). <u>Childhood sexual abuse and HIV infection in homosexual men: A review of the literature.</u> (Available from AIDS Care and Treatment Unit, Preventative Health Services Division, Health Canada).
- Velarde, J. A. (1975). Becoming Prostitutes. <u>British Journal of Criminology</u>, Vol. 15, No. 5, pp. 251-260.
- Victoria Park Community Association Prostitution Committee. (1997, June). <u>Community</u> perspective on prostitution in Victoria Park. Calgary, AB: Richard Gregory.
- Village Clinic. (1997, May). <u>Street outreach project: Needs assessment final report</u>. Winnipeg, MB: Karin Linnebach & John Schellenberg.
- Visano, L. (1987). This idle trade: The occupational patterns of male prostitution. Concord, Ontario: VitaSana Books.
- Wade-Gayles, G. (1996). Fighting my homophobia: An essay of gratitude for my students. In Rooted against the wind (pp. 61-86). Boston, MA: Beacon Press.
- Waldorf, D., Murphy, S., Lauderback, D., Reinarman, C., & Manotta, T. (1990). Needle Sharing Among Male Prostitutes: Preliminary Findings of the Proposed Project. <u>Journal of Drug Issues</u>, Vol. 20, No. 2, pp. 309-334.
- Walker, H. M., Stiber, S. & Bullis, M. (1997). Longitudinal Correlates of Arrest Status Among At-Risk Males. <u>Journal of Child and Family Studies</u>. Vol. 65, No. 3, pp. 289-309.



- Weeks, J. (1981). Inverts, Perverts, Mary-Annes, Male Prostitution and the Regulation of Homosexuality in England in the Nineteenth and Early 20th Centuries. <u>Journal of Homosexuality</u>, Vol. 6, No. 1/2, pp. 113-134.
- Weisberg, D.K. (1985). <u>Children of the Night: A Study of Adolescent Prostitution</u>. Lexington: D.C. Heath.
- West, D. J. (1993). Male Prostitution. Binghamton: Haworth Press Inc.
- West, R. (1987). U.S. Prostitutes Collective. In F. Delacost & P. Alexander (Eds.), <u>Sex Work Writings by Women in the Sex Industry</u>, (pp. 280-289). Pittsburgh: Cleis Press.
- Whittemore, K. D. (1990). <u>Perceptions of Juvenile Sexual Abuse: Gender issues in diagnosis and treatment</u>. Ann Arbour: U.M.I. Dissertation Services.
- Winterdyk, J. A (2000). <u>Issues and Perspectives on Young Offenders in Canada</u>. (2nd Edition). Toronto: Harcourt.
- Wynter, S. (1987). Whisper: Women Hurt in Systems of Prostitution Engaged in Revolt. In F. Delacoste & P. Alexander (Eds.), <u>Sex Work Writings by Women in the Sex Industry</u>, (pp. 266-270). Pittsburgh: Cleis Press.
- Zimmerman, R. (1989). Aids: Social Causes, Patterns, Cures and Problems. In K. McKinney & S. Sprecher (Eds.), Human Sexuality: The Societal and Interpersonal Context, (pp. 286-317). Norwood, NJ: Ablex Publishing Corporation